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SUMMARY

	Newham Museum Service was commissioned by Hunting Gate Project Management Ltd. to undertake an archaeological investigation of a site, consisting of various properties around 789 High Road Leyton (TQ 37978799), in advance of redevelopment. Number 789 itself was the office of Essex Builders Merchants and consisted of a dilapidated and partially altered eighteenth century house. The development involved the complete demolition of the building as well as subsurface disturbance so an archaeological survey of the standing building and an evaluation of the archaeological deposits was required1. This article reports on the results of the survey of the eighteenth century building and it’s later alterations.2



 

	Our aim was to record the building in elevation and plan, to carry out a survey of the building material, and to record any surviving fixtures and fittings, so that a sequence of building alterations could be established. The work was carried out within the parameters set by safety considerations and limited resources. The unsafe structural condition of the building meant that access to the building was restricted and the recording of internal structural features strictly limited. However a photographic survey of the accessible parts of the building was undertaken by Walthamstow Photographic Society with the results deposited in Vestry House Museum, Walthamstow. Prior to demolition a photogrammetry survey was undertaken by the East London University Surveying Department (fig. 1). This method of recording the building was undertaken to enable the creation of an accurate digital model of the building, which was tied into the subsequent recording of the buildings foundations and site grid. A watching brief was then carried out during the demolition of the building so as to record any structural information revealed. To aid the identification of different building elements and development of the structure over time, specific samples representative of different elements, including brickwork, chimney pots, roof tile, and structural timbers were identified before and collected during demolition. After demolition the site was cleared and cleaned, and a ground plan of the building and internal features recorded.





LAYOUT, USAGE AND DEVELOPMENT

	Cartographic evidence suggests that a building was constructed and an associated back garden laid out, on the site at some time between 17463 and 17774. 

	The brick foundations to the house indicate a two-up-two-down arrangement of rooms with an extension at the rear (fig. 2). Of the two rooms on the ground floor at the front of the house one is likely to have been the parlour and the other the living room. The living room was where all the cooking, eating and day-to-day activities would have taken place whereas the parlour would have been used for more formal and special occasions. A clue to the interpretation given to these rooms was provided by the relative size of the fireplaces. One would expect the living room to possess the larger fireplace capable of accommodating food preparation and water heating functions. During demolition a large brick arched fireplace was recorded, built into the north wall of the house, and indeed the ground plan confirmed that the living room fireplace was substantially larger than the parlour fireplace. It is not known whether the living-room was equipped with a range, but in the late eighteenth century cast iron ranges became a characteristic of vernacular kitchen/living rooms5. Coal was likely to have been the preferred fuel for fireplaces in the eighteenth and nineteenth centuries6. The house also had three fireplaces heating the three bedrooms. These fireplaces were integral features to the original structure of the house and are facets of a fairly well-to-do home.

	Accommodation at the rear of the house was in the form of an “outshot”7, i.e. an extension to the main part of the house. The outshot on the ground floor was divided by a wall, which probably separated the scullery or pantry from an ancillary room which housed the staircase. 

	Halfway between ground and first floors, there was a landing off which lay a small back bedroom heated by a fireplace and lit by its own west facing window. In the eighteenth century domestic servants were employed in households of quite modest social standing and the back bedroom may originally have been for servant accommodation.

	On the first floor the staircase led to an enclosed landing off which led two bedrooms. Interior detail seen and photographed prior to demolition shows that the main bedrooms were fitted out with wood panelled wainscoting to dado rail height. This would have added to the comfort, heat retention and status of the rooms and the house in general. Each of the two main bedrooms also had cupboard space built into the right hand alcoves of the chimney breast. These details are possibly original eighteenth century features. 

	The front facade of the house at the time of demolition had four surviving Georgian windows at first floor height (tall double sash windows). The windows have small panes of glass set in glazing bars with a 3 x 4 pattern. Georgian aesthetic considerations would probably have meant that there would have been three windows at the front on the ground floor with a door off-set from the centre to maintain symmetry (i.e. in the same position as the modern shop front door at the time of demolition) (fig. 1). The front door must have led straight into the living room. At the back of the house a window lit the back-bedroom and there may have been a window lighting the scullery on the ground floor. Therefore there were probably nine original windows which coincides with contemporary tax considerations. Window tax increased at the threshold numbers of 10, 20, and 30 windows per home during the period 1750 - 1777 and therefore buildings tended to have 9, 19, or 29 windows8.

	The house roof had gabled ends with a “cat-slide”, i.e. a roof where the eves are lower at the rear of the building than they are at the front9, over the outshot. The original roofing material was probably peg tile as pieces of peg tile were recovered at the time of demolition around the chimney flue.

	The house was provided with a drainage system in the form of brick lined drains for the removal of the waste water to the rear of the house. The probably had it’s own water supply in the form of a well in the rear garden area.

	Oak floor timbers sampled during demolition may have been eighteenth century but unfortunately all had less than 50 growth rings and so were, decreed unsuitable for dendrochronological analysis.

	During the nineteenth century the house continued to be inhabited, evidenced by repairs carried out to the structure. A probable repair or replacement to the parlour fireplace was represented by a backfilled cut to it’s foundation. It is not possible to explain the exact nature of the work carried out but it must have been extensive for evidence to appear in the fireplace foundation. Replacement of the fireplace for function or fashion reasons however, is a possibility. A possible repair to the floor adjacent to the front door was also represented by a backfilled cut. Brick plinths were introduced as joist supports for the ground floor in the front rooms presumably to support a timber floor which may have needed replacing or consolidating (fig. 3d). 

	The Tithe map of 183810 shows that the house was set back from the contemporary road and that there was a building to the front of the house which may have had a mercantile or industrial function. Road widening later in the century removed this building leaving the house at road edge.

	During the latter half of the nineteenth century the boundaries to the house property were delineated by brick walls which remained the property boundaries until the twentieth century. The southern property boundary wall had an ogee type curve where the height of the wall was reduced. 

	During the late-nineteenth century the installation of ceramic foul-water drains occurred probably connecting the house’s plumbing to the municipal sewage system.

	The deposition of material, including fire rake-out, in the backyard of the house property continued until sometime in the twentieth century, suggesting that the house was probably used as a dwelling up until, or shortly before, the building became a retail outlet for Essex Builders Merchants. This change of use necessitated drastic alterations to the fabric of the building. The bottom half of the front facade of the building was cut out to create a shuttered shop front destroying the original doorway and ground floor windows. The partitioning wall on the ground floor was removed to create an open sales area. Concrete plinths, possibly bases to upright ceiling supports, were inserted into the ground within the house. It may have been during this period of conversion from home to shop, that the rear of the building was extended. A wall was built extending the outshot south to the property dividing wall, squaring-off the building (fig. 3d). In the process the south wall of the outshot was demolished and the internal wall may also have been destroyed. Curiously, the extension used the external wall of the electricity building to the south of the house as it’s southern wall. It was likely that these changes to the rear of the premises also contributed to the building’s structural weakness. A second doorway into the rear of the building may have been inserted as part of these changes. The roof was certainly replaced or relaid with pan tiles when the modern extension was built.





BUILDING MATERIAL (Ken Sabel)

	The building materials retrieved during the demolition of the wood store and the subsequent excavations were examined using the system of classification used in London by MoLAS and NMS. A fabric number was allocated to each object specifying its composition, form, method of manufacture and approximate date range. A narrower date range within each fabric was established by examining specific variations between objects. Examples of the fabrics can be found in the reference collects of MoLAS and NMS.

	The house was initially built with unfrogged bricks of fabrics 3032 and 3033. The purple brick (fabric 3032) was mostly 222-228mm long, 100-108mm wide and 62-67mm thick, although some were slightly smaller (see Table 1) The orange brick (fabric 3033) had yellow surfaces and measured 221-228x104-108x62-66mm. All those bricks fell into the late eighteenth to early nineteenth century date range.

	A repair to the floor of the building consisted of a mixture of brick fabrics, though all the bricks were unfrogged. Yellow stock brick (fabric 3035) was observed along with purple brick (fabric 3032) measuring 222x103x64mm. Three complete orange bricks were kept. These had yellow surfaces, frequent inclusions, well defined corners and slightly indented borders and measured 226x102-103x64mm. These bricks like those in the main walls of the cottage and are late eighteenth to early nineteenth century in date. However, their uniformity of size, well defined borders, and more frequent inclusions indicate they are later within this date range.

	The building was roofed with pan tile at the time of demolition. Pan tile gradually went out of use as a roofing material after the introduction of cheap roofing slate in the 1760s, and would probably not have been used in new roofs much after 1800. The roof extended to cover a post-1850 addition to the building indicating that it was added during or after construction of the extension. The pan tiles were of various sizes and fabrics indicating a range of origins and may have derived from the demolition of several structures in the vicinity. Four tiles were retrieved; of these, four different styles of knib were represented and two different shapes. Two tiles were of fabric 2275, one being 345x229x15mm with a grooved knib while the other measured 367x248x12mm with a knib running almost the length of the tile. Another tile (fabric 3094) measured 363x240x14mm while the fourth measured 353x248x13mm and had abundant calcium carbonate inclusions. The lack of a lining to the roof (an essential accessory to a pan tile roof, which, though it uses fewer tiles than a peg tile roof, lets some rain water through) also indicates that the pan tiles were a later insertion by builders unfamiliar or unconcerned with the long term detrimental consequences to the building resulting from the omission of the lining. The roof was rendered even less watertight by the use of different sized and shaped tiles. Uniformly sized peg tiles (fabric 2276) measuring 270-272x165-167x13-14mm found loose around the chimney were possibly remnants of the original roofing cover.

	Chimney pots of three designs of two fabrics (2276 & a fabric containing frequent calcium carbonate (fig. 4) were retrieved during demolition from the north chimney stack and the outshot chimney stack. They probably date to the late eighteenth century and may be an original feature of the building.

	Analysis of the building material has shown that the original late eighteenth century house was built with purple and orange bricks from more than one source and probably had a peg tile roof. The building was later extended and re-roofed with a mixture of pan tiles, possibly derived from the demolition of buildings in the area. These reused tiles were probably used for economic reasons rather than practical ones but eventually led to the building’s deterioration.



















Fabric�Form�Description�Dimensions in mm�Date range Fabric�Date range Object���������3032�Brick�Hard, purple, often with yellow surfaces with inclusions of iron oxide and varying amounts of rubbish and voids left by the combustion of rubbish.�228 - 222 x 108 - 100 x 67 - 62



218 - 213 x 100 - 92 x 65 - 62�Late 17th - 

20th century�18th - early 19th century





18th - early 19th century���������3033�Brick�Soft, orange, locally produced from local brickearths.�228 - 221 x 108 - 104 x 66 - 62�1450/1480 -

20th century.�Late 18th - early 19th century���������3035�Brick�Hard, yellow, London stock brick. 

Frequent inclusions.��Late 18th -  

20th century����������2275�Pan tile�Orange-brown with inclusions of sand, occasional iron oxide <1.5mm and occasional calcium carbonate.



�345 x 229 x 15



367 x 248 x 12�First introduced to the London area in 1620/40, until. early 19th century�1666 - c.1800



1666 - c.1800���������2276�Peg tile�Orange  with inclusions of sand, varying amounts of calcium carbonate, it is laid on fine sand prior to firing and has a comparatively even thickness.�272 - 270 x 167 - 165 x 14 - 13�1480/1520 - c.1900�1480/1520 - c.1900���������3094�Pan tile�Inclusions: sand, frequent very fine black iron oxide and some silt.�363 x 240 x 14�First introduced to the London area in 1620/40, until. early 19th century�1666 - c.1800





��

Table 1:  Summary of ceramic building material from 789 High Road Leyton





CONCLUSIONS

	The building at 789 High Road Leyton proved to be a modest brick built house of the late Georgian period which possessed (for the eighteenth century) many up-to-date and desirable facilities. However by the twentieth century it had been reduced to the status of a builders’ yard office.

	Surveyed and recorded only just in time before the inevitability of demolition, the site was a sad but all too common example of the continued vulnerability of Georgian buildings in London. Thus by the late twentieth century, one of the few reminders of Leyton’s more rural past had been reduced through insensitive and structurally dangerous alterations, and then neglect, to an unsafe shell and eyesore. Public bodies, local authorities, and commercial concerns must deem such buildings worthy of protection, preservation and revitalisation, if not only our architectural heritage but also the very fabric of our urban environment is to be assured of its peculiarity and distinctiveness. 
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